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Quelli ch'usurpa in terra il luogo mio, 

il luogo mio, il luogo mio, che vaca 

ne la presenza del Figliuol di Dio, 

fatt'ha del cimitero mio cloaca

del sangue e de la puzza; onde 'l perverso

che cadde di qua sù, là giù si placa.

Dante. Paradiso Canto XXVII








  
  










  
  
Foreword




As most people know, the foreword of a book is the last thing the author writes. I placed the final full stop in this story, in late November 2024, in a villa on a Thai island. I had an extra drink or two that evening and felt immense relief. Just over two years of work had come to an end. I could now suddenly enjoy reading whatever I wanted. No more court documents or legal prose, for a while at least. And now, an editor would take over and carry my manuscript across the finish line. I had done my part. 

However, the publishing company suddenly had a change of heart. The media was far too critical, particularly about Uppdrag Granskning, a television programme featured in my manuscript. The publisher claimed it was impossible to conduct a thorough fact-check because the Supreme Court had not yet decided whether to grant leave to appeal for Birgitte Bonnesen, so no qualified lawyers dared comment on my manuscript. Therefore, it couldn't be published.

Here's my take on this. As a publisher, you can publish whichever books you want. You can also reject manuscripts for any reason. You might think I'm a hack who can't write. That's perfectly fine. Even if you've signed a contract and paid an advance, an author can underperform, crash and burn halfway through. That’s entirely conceivable. But listening to this nonsense about fact-checking and the unnecessarily harsh criticism of Uppdrag Granskning from a publishing employee – who had no expertise – was disheartening. At that point, it seemed that something else was at play. All I could do was tip my hat and move on.

Uppdrag Granskning's role in this story will become clear, as will the reasons why the reportages in question and the subsequent, skilfully-orchestrated media frenzy deserve the strongest possible criticism. Recruiting one of the country's most qualified lawyers, who was also well-versed in the case, to fact-check my manuscript, took me exactly four minutes. The review was done over a couple of weeks – it can happen that quickly when one knows the material. Thankfully, other publishers and more modern alternatives are available for those with a story to tell.

Aniara is not a publishing house in the traditional sense, but it does produce books that have an audience. It translates and polishes manuscripts with AI-assisted affection and connects authors with their readers. So, my first big thank you - a foreword is, ultimately, written with the intention of thanking those who have provided support - is directed to Rickard Lundberg and all of the others at Aniara, who have ensured that this book reaches its audience - in several languages, no less. The process doesn't have to be as slow as the established book industry likes to suggest. Thank you.

Numerous individuals generously gave me their time – engaging in conversations, bouncing ideas around, answering questions and providing explanations – but the problem is they did so on the condition that they were not thanked, at least not by name. These include current and former Swedbank employees, and others with important knowledge and insights. The banking industry values discretion, as do many lawyers. In any case, I am deeply grateful to all who illuminated my path during this long journey.

The book does name some of of my sources and informants though. A big thank you to you as well!

Finally, I must thank Birgitte Bonnesen for gradually increasing her trust in me despite journalists betraying her countless times and intentionally misinterpreting and distorting her words. I thank her for understanding and always respecting the structure of the project and the fact that the book—and the final word—were mine. I listened to her objections and suggestions, but she understood she had no veto power.

This story is utterly horrific. It’s a tale of character assassination that risked evolving into a fully-realised miscarriage of justice. We are fortunate that it didn’t end in suicide like other, similar cases in recent history. But this is more than just a personal tragedy; it’s a dirge for a mediatised public sphere that’s dysfunctional on many levels. We continually see these senseless frenzies and media-driven legal proceedings, again and again. We never learn.

This situation is difficult to reconcile with our smug Swedish self-image, and it's becoming increasingly challenging to maintain the facade that our journalism is serious and that our authorities are credible. The central question isn't what drives journalists to gleefully form lynch mobs, destroying people's lives by repeating the most absurd and erroneous claims ad nauseam. No, the central question is what compels Swedish media consumers to consume Swedish media offerings against their better judgement. One might wonder why serious-minded journalists don't furiously protest against this senseless witch-hunting with no factual basis when it could reasonably lead to  all credible investigative journalism being dragged through the mud. And how can any media institution be favoured with less trust than “Uppdrag Granskning”? How could that even be possible? Is it, at its core, about pure schadenfreude?

I am writing this at a time when the 40-year-old “Styckmordet” (“The Dismemberment Murder”) is, once again, back in the spotlight, thanks to a four-part documentary series for SVT created by Dan Josefsson and Johannes Hallbom, About two innocent doctors who had their lives shattered. Although they were ultimately acquitted of the actual murder of young Catrine Da Costa, it was claimed in court  that it was beyond reasonable doubt that they had, together, carried out the dismemberment of her dead body. This argument was entirely based on statements from a 16-month-old girl, obligingly relayed via a woman who had persistently, but unsuccessfully, tried to have one of the doctors – her own ex-husband no less – convicted of incest.

How is this possible? Anyone who’s met a 16-month-old will know that the idea is bizarre. A young child will say anything and everything, if they say anything at all. It would be the same as if a two-year-old child was asked to recount  memories from several months ago. They simply lack the linguistic and intellectual skills to form and reconstruct memories. The cassette tapes with the woman's persistent attempts to get the girl to talk about a dismembered corpse after the fact – tapes to which neither the court nor the press lent an ear – contained, of course, nothing to support the convictions of the woman, the prosecutor or the court, but both the court and the press were convinced beyond all reasonable doubt. Both men had their medical licence revoked by the national board of health and welfare and were sentenced to a lifelong shadow existence in a hostile environment due to journalists and judicial authorities believing that these two doctors were sadistic sex offenders. They were 'socially executed' to quote Per Lindberg, who, in his book Death is a Man, shed light on the Catrine da Costa case and dispelled the sectarian darkness  (and who initially had trouble finding a publisher that could withstand the controversy).

Now, in hindsight, some journalists have expressed regret over their unresisting adherence to the lynch mob. Anna Hedenmo – formerly of SVT and chairperson of the Swedish Publicists' Association from 2017 to 2019 – was there when it all went down and wrote in Expressen (17 December 2024): 'I wish I could say that I wasn't swept up in the bloodthirsty media frenzy against the two doctors, that I asked critical questions of my superiors.' But she can't say that, because she didn't do it. There was no moral backbone, she just wanted nothing more than to belong and blend in. This may be a human response but rarely generates original or even useful journalism. She lit the pyre under the two doctors just like her colleagues. Being wrong in a large crowd costs, essentially, nothing. One can even manage to rake in a major journalism award or two before it becomes clear that one was wrong about everything. By the time that happens, everyone has long since turned the page and moved on. That is to say, of course, everyone except the socially executed.

The superiors Hedenmo mentions in her article had already decided the doctors were guilty. The doctors were obviously murderers of the worst kind. Such matters were — and are — a question of sensational drama rather than boring facts. Editorial decisions of this kind are made swiftly by Swedish media executives who raise a wet finger to the wind. According to one of my informants, it still largely functions this way. It's almost a given.

I watched the series “The Swedish Dismemberment Murder” and as time ticked on, I became increasingly dismayed, nearly numb, and lethargic. It's so disheartening. But then suddenly, at the end of the last episode, I pricked up my ears and sat up straight in my armchair. What? What did the narrator say? Did I hear that right? “Uppdrag Granskning”? You bet. Of course “Uppdrag Granskning” was involved here too, hounding harder than anyone else. In April 2007, they aired a report that stated the socially executed pathologist was not only guilty of murdering Catrine da Costa, but had also allegedly murdered his young wife, Anne-Catherine, several years earlier. Well, well! He wasn’t just a murderer but also a serial killer. Naturally, there wasn’t a shred of evidence, but that didn’t stop presenter Kattis Ahlström from saying: ’Yes, Anne-Catherine's mother was right after all. Anne-Catherine was likely murdered. And now we wait to see what conclusions the police and prosecutors draw from this today.’

Good heavens! So Mother was right after all! It just keeps happening, year in and year out. And as taxpaying media consumers, we apathetically allow this tomfoolery to continue. However, the price is paid by those whose careers and lives have been ruined by being accused of crimes they haven't committed. There were many innocent victims in the Swedbank case, in both Sweden and Estonia. Media-driven prosecutions were the icing on the cake. And Swedish courts, as will be shown,, don’t have the faintest idea how the media operates or conducts its business. And they pass judgement accordingly.

This is why anyone seeking mild and conciliatory media criticism should continue their search since this is not the book for them.



Stockholm, January 2025

Jan Söderqvist








  
  
The Lady with the Dog




There's an old story that circulates in the legal sphere; I first heard it at the beginning of the 2000s when attending a main hearing at the district court and court of appeal. I eventually wrote about the case. It concerned a bank that had also done wrong, I could be mistaken but I'm certain it was the lawyer Hans Strandberg who told the story at the time. He was also involved, in his capacity as an attorney in the Swedbank case. 

At any rate, the story was about two high-ranking, possibly Supreme Court justices, who met on a Monday morning after a long weekend and started chatting on their way to the courthouse. The conversation went something like this: One of the lawyers asked the other how he was doing and how his weekend was. 'Fine, thanks,' replied the other, 'and you?' 'Well,' said the first lawyer, 'I've been having trouble with a neighbour complaining a lot about my dog for quite some time now. Now he's suing me for 100,000 kronor because the dog supposedly got into his garden, destroyed all the flower beds and chewed up the tyres of the bikes parked at the back'  (this bit about flower beds and tyres is my embellishment; I only remember the story's punchline, and strictly speaking, it doesn't matter at all what this dog was said to have done). 'It became so tiresome', the first lawyer continued, 'that I finally agreed to settle for 50,000 kronor.' 'What? But you don't have a dog,'  the second jurist replied, perplexed. 'No, I don't,' answered the’ beleaguered colleague with a sorrowful sigh. 'But you know how the justice system works in this country.'

I told this story to Birgitte Bonnesen, former CEO and President of Swedbank, on a cold, sunny day in January 2023. To be precise, it was Wednesday, 18th January, exactly one week before the Stockholm district court delivered its verdict in the case that Ekobrottsmyndigheten (the Swedish economic crime authority) and prosecutor Thomas Langrot were pursuing against her. She was alleged to have committed gross fraud and improperly disclosed inside information – serious charges for which the prosecutor argued she’d be given a two-year prison sentence if she was found guilty.

Birgitte didn’t believe there was even a slight risk of her being convicted on any count, let alone being given a prison sentence. Her attorney, Per E. Samuelson agreed. There wasn’t really a crime to be found, so how could she be a criminal? In reference to the lawyer joke mentioned above, she didn’t own a dog. But what good did that do? A trace of uncertainty lingered, nonetheless. We know how the justice system works in this country. We're fully aware of its lottery-like character. A person can believe they are innocent and find the very thought of an indictment and a trial completely absurd, but there are no guarantees. At the very least, prosecutor Langrot and the higher-ups at Ekobrottsmyndigheten must believe in a guilty verdict. One would hope.

Birgitte forced a smile at my story. She said nothing. We were out walking after a long lunch at Dalarö Lanthandel. Perhaps it was a bad idea to crack that joke to try and lighten the mood. At this point, I still didn’t know what Birgitte thought of me or how much she trusted me. Given what she'd been through, it would be understandable if her confidence in newspaper writers was somewhat eroded. So, I didn’t even know whether, at this stage, she had decided that there would be a book written about her case or whether I would be the one to write it. All I knew is that she had great faith in our mutual friend, who brought us together a couple of weeks before the long autumn hearing in the district court. I believed that she hadn't completely dismissed the idea of a book, or me as its author. Otherwise, we probably wouldn't be walking out here along the water together, talking about the verdict coming in a week, along with the disagreeable fact that Thomas Langrot also lived out here on Dalarö and that he and she kept bumping into each other at the local gym, much to Birgitte's great irritation. She harboured no warm feelings for the man who'd done everything in his power to get her convicted.

The matter was made no better by the fact that the Swedish prison and probation service had already, taken her measure, so to speak, as they do with anyone at risk of being sentenced to prison – a procedure I am unfamiliar with and which came as an unpleasant surprise to Birgitte when, one evening in October 2022, after many long days in the district court, she found an anonymous white envelope with the sender marked as a PO box address in Huddinge. It turned out to be the Swedish prison and probation Service contacting her via her appointed contact person, Sture Thörnvik. Sture wished to schedule a personal meeting and, since his investigation had to take place before the trial concluded the following month, there was no time to lose.

When Birgitte read the letter, she turned ice-cold, panic-stricken; suddenly the concept of prison had become something she had to take seriously. She realised that others would take it very seriously indeed. She called Per Samuelson and asked what it was all about: what did they mean, prison? She was innocent. Didn’t the court understand how things stood? Well, yes, said attorney Samuelson. It was simply something he had forgotten to tell her about. It was a standard procedure when someone risked being imprisoned, which she wouldn’t be, of course, because she was obviously innocent. But even so ...

Birgitte refused to set foot in the Swedish prison and probation service premises, insisting she had no business there. She had planned to be away on the day that Sture Thörnvik, her contact, suggested they meet. It was when the district court was on autumn recess. She called Per Samuelson again to ease her worries, but he couldn’t work any magic; it was what it was.

Thankfully, the contact person at the probation service turned out to be reasonable. He knew who Birgitte Bonnesen was; he'd seen her on TV. The personal investigation had to be carried out according to protocol, but Sture Thörnvik agreed to conduct the meeting over the phone. The investigation would form the basis for determining the sentence. For instance: what kind of support and/or supervision did Birgitte need to prevent her from reoffending? She and Sture quickly agreed that the risk of recidivism was non-existent, since the bank no longer employed her.

Sture Thörnvik wondered whether Birgitte would consider working on some form of community service if the verdict was a suspended sentence? When Birgitte heard the question, she was initially taken aback. A guilty verdict? Did we need to start considering that possibility seriously? However, that was precisely the premise for the entire investigation and this conversation, so she agreed to consider what would apply in such an eventuality. Sture explained that community service, when applicable, often took place under the auspices of the church, but other arrangements could be considered. He told her someone fulfilled their community service working at a fish shop in Hötorgshallen, an indoor market in central Stockholm.  And as for that person is, I think I know: a food-loving singer and dancer from Norrköping, the frontman of a beloved pop orchestra, who, incidentally, had the same defence lawyer as Birgitte – Per E. Samuelson – and who had to wear an ankle monitor and work in both a fish shop and a restaurant after being caught with a couple of grams of cocaine in his trouser pocket. Birgitte mentioned she might consider working at Stadsmissionen, the  city’s local rescue mission.

After that, the questions became increasingly specific, with the investigation touching on Birgitte's health, finances, and social situation. Did she, or anyone in her family or social circle, have problems with drugs? Were there any gambling addictions or other issues of that nature in her immediate surroundings? And so on. The process lasted about 40 minutes, but it wasn’t as unpleasant or invasive as she had feared, largely thanks to the investigator's tact and respect.

Nevertheless, due to the Swedish prison and probation service investigation, the possibility of a conviction suddenly became less dismissable. A Swedish authority had begun preparing to administer correctional care on Birgitte Bonnesen's behalf, something which had been at the back of her mind since the trial’s final stages in October. Her circle of friends’ energetic assurances that she can reasonably expect to be acquitted may have helped alleviate the worry, but not completely. So one was perhaps not then in the best frame of mind to hear stories about lawyers who view the justice system as one giant lottery.

How on earth did we end up here? Why was a dismissed CEO and group chief executive of one of the Nordic region's major banks, one of the true heavyweights in Swedish business, standing with me at the water's edge at Dalarö on a winter's day in mid-January 2023, discussing the risk of her being sentenced to prison? Why was she even dismissed? What events led to her being fired by her company chairman, having her severance pay withdrawn by Sweden's former Prime Minister, Göran Persson, and being indicted by Ekobrottsmyndigheten? Or, to put it another way, where was this ‘dog’ that prosecutor Thomas Langrot claimed she owned, despite her emphatic denials?

The alleged crime was gross fraud and severe market manipulation. Furthermore, the prosecutor claimed that Birgitte Bonnesen was guilty of the unauthorised disclosure of insider information. Of those who followed the case somewhat casually, some believed it was about money laundering, that Birgitte stood accused of having participated in, or in some way turning a blind eye to, extensive money laundering in the Baltics. This was not correct. Certainly, money laundering was a central component in the indictment. Still, if it occurred at all (we shall return to this) it did so in the Baltic countries – Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania – where Swedish law enforcement authorities had no jurisdiction whatsoever. This meant that if money laundering did indeed occur in any of Swedbank's wholly-owned subsidiaries in those Baltic countries, i.e. banks that were their own legal entities, and if in that case it   had led to an indictment, then it would have been  resolved in those countries in which the crime was committed – that is, if it was committed at all. But no such indictment existed, nor had it ever existed.

So, what exactly constitutes serious fraud, according to the prosecutor? What precisely had Birgitte done that was alleged to be criminal? She made statements to the press and spoke with analysts and investors during the autumn of 2018 and early spring of 2019. She gave interviews, for example, on 23 October 2018, in connection with the release of the third quarter report (Q3) for the year. It was a very strong report – the best in the bank's history, which pleased the market and caused the share price to rise.

The article published in Svenska Dagbladet Näringsliv, written by reporter Birgitta Forsberg, was headlined: 'Swedbank's CEO: ”How the hell could this happen?’'“ What Birgitte Bonnesen was referring to here was not Swedbank's good results for Q3, which wasn’t the focus of  the interview but rather the extensive money laundering that may have been conducted in and through Danske Bank in Estonia. This scandal broke out on a large scale in February 2017 after initially coming to light in articles from the Copenhagen newspaper Berlingske Tidende, based on information regarding suspicious transactions that had been disclosed  from within the bank (the whistleblower's name was Howard Wilkinson). The results of Danske Bank's investigation of the scandal had been made public the previous month, September 2018, when the bank acknowledged that the newspaper reports were essentially correct, and that Danske Bank had not succeeded in stopping money laundering to the desired extent. On the 25th September, Aivar Rehe, the former CEO of Danske Bank's Estonian company, was found dead. He had, the Estonian police concluded, taken his own life.

Svenska Dagbladet's Birgitta Forsberg posed the following question to Birgitte Bonnesen on the 23rd October: 'What distinguishes your non-Estonian customers from those of Danske Bank?' Forsberg, thus, believed or thought she knew that Swedbank, whose market share in Estonia and other Baltic countries was, and is, significant, had engaged in, or at least facilitated, money laundering on a large scale and that a revelation in this matter was just a matter of time. Birgitte Bonnesen had a different opinion. 'There's a huge difference,' she responded. 'To be a customer at Swedbank, you must have a physical link to the country. You must have a factory there, a sales office or some other type of business. If you're a private customer, you must, for example, be employed by an Estonian company or be enrolled at a university'.

‘You have,’ Forsberg continued, ‘gone through your transactions with Danske Bank from 2007 to 2015 … what did you find?’ ‘Yes,’ Bonnesen responded. ‘We found nothing. We went through all the customers mentioned in the media reports about Danske Bank, and none of them are, or were, customers of Swedbank. Not even one.' Forsberg didn't want to accept that answer. 'Isn't that strange?' she wondered. Birgitte replied, 'No, it's not strange in the least. Those customers were all non-residents. They hadn’t operated in Estonia. It's not strange that they weren't our customers.'

TT interviewed Birgitte on the same day on the same theme under the headline: ‘Swedbank's CEO is certain - no skeletons in the closet’. Here, they did at least mention the strong results in passing but the focus was still on money laundering: 'A thorough review has been conducted, but Swedbank has not found  signs of any funny business in its operations, according to Birgitte Bonnesen. Nor have financier Bill Browder's reports against Nordea for money laundering surfaced in a similar manner at Swedbank, according to Bonnesen.' We will return to Bill Browder later. 'But most importantly’, Birgitte continued, 'every time we see something, we act, and we do so forcefully.' TT followed up by asking: 'How certain can you be that you don't have any dirty laundry in the Baltics?' Birgitte stood her ground, firmly stating: 'we have been through everything.'

Birgitte was also interviewed on Swedish Radio the same day and, when asked about money laundering, she said: 'I am telling everyone to relax. We run a large retail bank in four countries.’ When later questioned about the biggest risks to the bank's profitability, she responded that it was certainly not money laundering. Viewers of SVT’s Rapport received a similar message. Don't Swedbank have customers who move money from, for example, Russia? ‘Yes, certainly … but not customers who don't have a business in the country'.

The message remained consistent even in an interview with Dagens Industri, with the headline: 'Swedbank's CEO emphatic that the bank has no ties to money laundering.' Birgitte reiterated that the Danske Bank customers featured in media reports had not been customers of Swedbank. The same information was conveyed to Dagens Nyheter. The differences between Swedbank's and Danske Bank's operations were also highlighted on the American news channel CNBC: ‘Swedbank focuses on domestic customers and sees itself as a low-risk bank’.

According to Thomas Langrot, these interview responses and the reassuring information regarding money laundering issues provided during an investor meeting on the same day (23 October 2018) were not truthful and were consequently misleading. Langrot believed he knew – we will return to how and why – that Swedbank's efforts against money laundering in the Baltics during the years 2007–2015 were, in fact, substandard in several respects. He claimed that Birgitte Bonnesen was fully aware of all these serious shortcomings but chose to systematically keep the public and the bank's board in the dark. The truth was so embarrassing that it couldn’t come to light under any circumstances. In his statement of facts, the prosecutor wrote that ‘the bank’s strategy was to conceal or downplay the bank's problems with money laundering in the Baltics.' In his closing argument, Langrot stated that 'several circumstances indicate a deliberateness  to mislead the market.'

Furthermore, it wasn’t only Danske Bank that had whistleblowers.  Swedbank had them too. Long lists of old transactions – presumed suspicious – had ended up in the hands of the editorial staff of SVT's investigative journalism programme, Uppdrag Granskning. Consequently, two reporters from Uppdrag Granskning asked Birgitte for an interview in February 2019. They had questions about the lists of transactions and intended to put her on the spot: Wasn't it true that Swedbank had acted as a laundromat in the Baltics? Had Swedbank in any way dealt with dirty money originating from the now widely-discussed   Magnitsky affair? (We'll return to this.) Had the bank also assisted the corrupt Yanukovych regime in Ukraine? Swedbank's communications department, which received Uppdrag Granskning's request on the 11th February 2019, didn't know exactly what the matter concerned. Everything was formulated in very general terms and the impression was given that all Swedish banks with a presence in Baltic countries would be scrutinised.

Birgitte was scheduled to travel on the day of the interview; she would be in Estonia, which is why she and communications chief Gabriel Francke Rodau decided that he would make himself available for the interview whereas she would continue with her trip as planned. They felt that she had talked enough to the media about money laundering and that she had nothing more to add. Uppdrag Granskning then wanted to conduct the interview in Tallinn and insisted on the bank's CEO being the one who should be questioned, but Birgitte was unyielding: they would have to make do with Gabriel Francke Rodau. She wanted to step out of the limelight and allow the CEOs of Handelsbanken, SEB and Nordea to come forward. After all, this was how Uppdrag Granskning had pitched their interview request; all the major Swedish banks were to be held accountable for alleged irregularities within their Baltic operations.

The interview took place on Friday, 15th February 2019 on the ground floor of Swedbank's headquarters in Sundbyberg, near to the lunch cafeteria, in the presence of numerous passers-by. SVT and Uppdrag Granskning’s visit to the bank did thereby not remain a secret. Gabriel Francke Rodau answered reporter Joachim Dyfvermark's questions, following the same line that Birgitte had taken earlier: he wasn't quite sure which transactions the leaked lists included and, due to bank secrecy laws and the prohibition against disclosing information, he couldn't comment on specific customers. He did say that Swedbank consistently worked decisively and methodically to counter money laundering and that, as soon as it perceived something suspicious, the bank acted with force. Dyfvermark wasn't satisfied with this; after all, he wanted comments relating to his lists of transactions - very old transactions, but transactions nonetheless. However, this February morning, he didn't get any further.

Instead of prosecuting former head of communications Gabriel Francke Rodau for giving misleading statements on television, Thomas Langrot chose to include another count to his case against Birgitte Bonnesen. This second count was based on something she mentioned during a shareholders' meeting on 18 February 2019 – that Swedbank and other major Swedish banks would soon feature on Uppdrag Granskning and that the investigation suspected money laundering in the Baltics. She did not think Swedbank would be portrayed in a particularly positive light. Still, she assured the meeting participants – Sparbanken, Folksam, Skandia, Alecta, Robur and various AP-funds, among others – that nothing serious would emerge as she and her colleagues had the situation fully under control.

Prosecutor Langrot argued that this conduct was also considered criminal, as it fell under Unlawful disclosure of inside information. Everyone knows it's rarely a good thing to be called to account for anything on Uppdrag Granskning. This critical information had been conveyed exclusively to the bank's major shareholders. The fact that the interview took place openly, outside the lunch cafeteria at the bank's headquarters and therefore was not a particularly well-kept secret within the industry was irrelevant in this context.

So this was the ‘dog’ that Thomas Langrot and  Ekobrottsmyndigheten  claimed that Birgitte Bonnesen owned. First, that she had intentionally concealed and distorted the grim truth about Swedbank's operations in the Baltics between 2007 and 2015 during several interviews with the media regarding the release of the Q3 report for 2018 in October of that year, and in the shadow of Danske Bank's investigation of its money laundering scandal. She then did an about-face and willingly revealed to major shareholders what she had previously been so careful to hide: that Swedbank was now in the media crosshairs precisely due to problems dealing with money laundering that she had earlier claimed were grossly exaggerated. In the presence of the major shareholders on 18 February 2019, she was,  deemed to have been truthful for once, at least until she assured them that any potential revelations (or allegations) on Uppdrag Granskning were nothing to worry about because the bank's management team was fully aware of the facts and had the situation under control. But she was truthful in the wrong forum. 

One can certainly discern the outlines of a ‘dog’ here but no matter how much I delve into the prosecutor's arguments or however deeply I immerse myself in the trial documents, there's one thing I can't comprehend. At first, I felt the question that popped into my head was very foolish but i summoned the courage to ask Birgitte anyway:  was the prosecutor suggesting that money laundering on a significant scale did actually occur in Swedbank's Baltic subsidiaries during the years covered by the indictment? That he could  prove this, and that Birgitte systematically concealed this from the market and the public? Or did he (merely) suggest that there were serious deficiencies in the subsidiary banks' anti-money laundering processes during the period, and consequently this meant that money laundering could possibly actually have occurred, and that the banks could – and perhaps should – have been subject to sanctions from various Baltic supervisory authorities, and that Birgitte lied about these deficiencies, which could have enabled large-scale money laundering?

It turned out that Birgitte herself didn’t know either. I asked Cecilia Hernqvist, chief compliance officer (the head of the department within the bank that monitored regulatory compliance) under Birgitte. Who had been designated by Langrot as Birgitte's primary co-conspirator, but she, too, didn’t know what the prosecutor was claiming. The question was then posed to Birgitte's defence attorney, Per E. Samuelson, who settled the matter and confirmed what I had, deep down, suspected all along. The second scenario was correct. Money laundering could have occurred, but that's not what the case was about; the central issue in the indictment was that the anti-money laundering processes that were in place within the Baltic subsidiaries were inadequate.

So how serious was this, according to the prosecutor? Well, it was extremely serious. 'The act has,' said the prosecutor in his closing argument, 'been of a particularly dangerous nature'. At stake here was nothing more or less than 'the trust in the entire banking system'. And 'this must also be considered when considering the penal value.'

The criminal act was difficult to detect and investigate. If it wasn’t for the efforts made by Uppdrag Granskning, this crime would have 'flown under the radar'. Now the prosecutor was claiming he could prove that the crime had been ongoing for an extended period, dating at least back to when Cecilia Hernqvist's predecessor as  chief compliance officer, Viveka Strangert, raised an internal alarm about the substandard work against money laundering and was promptly fired by Birgitte Bonnesen, who had just assumed the role of CEO.  The face was that Viveka Strangert had to leave her job as chief compliance officer because she pointed out deficiencies in the bank's AML (Anti Money Laundering) work,  argued Thomas Langrot in his presentation of facts and this assertion was also made in the press, for instance Expressen on the 26th February 2019.

'One could have chosen a different strategy,' the prosecutor concluded in his closing argument. 'One could have clarified and nuanced the picture (of the serious problems that, according to the prosecutor and Uppdrag Granskning, existed), but one chose not to do so. One chose to proceed’  (the cover-up and deception). ‘Thus, Birgitte (and her co-conspirators) had caused significant damage to trust in the entire banking system, which ‘influenced the penal value into a harsher direction.’

A dog, then. A fraudulent dog. There is much to be said about this. First, it is very unusual; the prosecutor's description of the act is not the kind that typically falls under the crime classification of fraud. Let’s turn to the letter of the law. It concerns chapter 9, section 9 of the criminal  code, which states:

'Anyone who publicly discloses or otherwise disseminates misleading information among the general public with the intent to influence the price of goods, securities, or any other property shall be sentenced to imprisonment for fraud  for a maximum of two years or, if the offense is minor, to a fine or imprisonment for a maximum of six months.'

Furthermore: 'A person shall also be sentenced for fraud if they, while participating in the founding of a limited company or other enterprise, or due to their position should have special knowledge about an enterprise, intentionally or through gross negligence, publicly disclose or otherwise disseminate among the general public or the enterprise's stakeholders misleading information that is likely to affect the economic assessment of the enterprise and, thereby, cause damage.'

And finally: 'If the crime referred to in the first or second paragraph is aggravated, the sentence for gross fraud shall be imprisonment for at least six months and at most six years. In assessing whether the crime is aggravated, special consideration shall be given to whether the act was of a larger scale, could have caused significant damage, or was otherwise of a particularly dangerous nature.'

At first glance, one can understand the prosecutor's line of thinking: if he managed to prove that the information was, indeed, misleading, then 1) misleading statements + 2) wide dissemination = gross fraud. Yet, this is not how fraud cases typically look in Sweden. They always involve irregularities in public accounts and/or misleading information of other kinds that are likely to affect an economic valuation and provide the criminal with financial advantages. They can involve various types of sham agreements or purely fictitious profits. The classic fraudster in a Swedish context is Refaat El-Sayed, 'Swede of the Year 1985', who fabricated a doctoral degree for himself, cooked the books in the company Fermenta's accounting, and was eventually sentenced to six years in prison and banned from conducting business. In such a case, the charge of gross fraud could be reasonable and appropriate.

Birgitte Bonnesen's case was entirely different. Within the constraints imposed by bank secrecy laws and the prohibition against disclosing information (we'll return to this), she responded according to the company's collectively-developed communication strategy to questions concerning the bank's efforts to combat money laundering, albeit not to the satisfaction of the prosecutor and certain journalists. She expressed herself in general terms and refrained from commenting on specific customers and delving into details regarding the bank's AML work. She stated that functioning procedures were in place. Admittedly, failure to provide information about certain matters might come into play, but it is rather odd – or at least unique – to focus solely on omission. This would presuppose an obligation to provide details of internal processes; an obligation that does not exist. Nothing similar has ever been tried in a Swedish courtroom. Probably for good reason.

The case against Birgitte Bonnesen did not contain any allegations of incorrect figures or any attempt to benefit the major shareholder nor Bonnesen herself. There were no suspicious transactions on which the prosecution could be pinned. Above all, there was no argument being made in the indictment that the fraud would enrich Birgitte; her compensation was not at all linked to the share price development. And as the defence pointed out in its closing argument, committing crimes for philanthropic reasons is extremely rare.

Nevertheless, all the signs pointed to Birgitte's actions being criminal and that she would be convicted, at least if we were to believe the media, which, overwhelmingly, adhered to the prosecutor's line  to the very last. On the 5th October 2022, Uppdrag Granskning broadcast yet another programme on the Swedbank theme, on account of the trial’s commencement. Those participating in the discussion – two reporters from Uppdrag Granskning and Svenska Dagbladet's reporter Birgitta Forsberg – were all in agreement that the case was unique, primarily because it was rare that directors at Bonnesen's level were held accountable for committing professional malpractice. Furthermore, they also agreed that the preliminary investigation demonstrated, quite simply, 'how things happened behind the scenes and how it could go so wrong that Bonnesen ended up in court, quite simply'. The editorial team congratulated itself on having performed the difficult task of investigating a bank engulfed in secrecy provisions. They humbly explained that it was all thanks to a leak, consisting of bank transfers, that the Ekobrottsmyndigheten  could conduct a search of the bank and bring charges against Bonnesen.

Birgitta Forsberg slammed the bank's “crisis management,” calling it “abysmal”. Uppdrag Granskning’s reporter Joachim Dyfvermark spoke ironically, commenting on Per E. Samuelson's statements that Uppdrag Granskning was essentially wrong, and that Bonnesen's statements were correct and complete; Dyfvermark said that he hoped, for Bonnesen's sake, that her defence lawyer would change his strategy in the upcoming trial. In the media, she was already convicted, and during the ensuing trial, the prosecutor's presentation was treated as a truth of almost biblical righteousness. Meanwhile, the defence's arguments were either ignored or rebutted with a fury that was rarely, if ever, seen in a context such as this.

If Birgitte Bonnesen were to found guilty and sentenced to prison, it would not only be incredibly sensational - even historic - but undoubtedly have had far-reaching consequences in how Swedish public companies communicated in the future. After all, a situation in which a CEO ends up behind bars after giving a few interviews in connection with a quarterly report should be avoided. What business leaders say, and how they say anything at all, must be considered extremely carefully, given the risks such a precedent would entail. The forms of dialogue between media and business would have to undergo a complete makeover. The mere fact that one can potentially be brought to trial for following the company's established communication strategy in press statements is bad enough. No one wants to end up in that situation. The trial would, therefore,  leave deep marks on big companies'  corporate communications, regardless of the outcome. 'This is the trial of the century in the business world,' stated Jan Leopoldson, a Ekobrottsmyndigheten prosecutor, who provided a comment to Svenska Dagbladet on the 21st January 2023. And all this came about (as opposed to the whole affair having 'flown under the radar') simply because Leopoldson's colleague, Thomas Langrot, turned on his TV one Wednesday evening in February 2019.








  
  
Never mind




Birgitte Bonnesen is not at all typical of those occupying a position at the pinnacle of Sweden's business world. Two things set her apart from the crowd: one, she’s not a man, and two, she’s not Swedish. Neither of these factors are insignificant in the telling of this book’s story, nor to her career. 

Her Danish accent persisted, even after 35 years in Sweden. She spoke quickly and energetically – sometimes a certain linguistic confusion arose between us, which forced me to remain focused and attentive. For example, at one point I think we discussed mortgages, which are an important source of income for all Swedish banks. I tried to keep up as best I could. Still, I couldn’t understand Birgitte's irritation about mortgages specifically, and eventually I had to interrupt and ask what were the  grounds for her objection to them. Hadn't these contributed substantially to the positive results delivered by her own bank over the years? She looked at me, puzzled. We were discussing Per Bolund, the Miljöpartiet (Green Party) minister for financial markets and consumer affairs in the Löfven government, and I had to think back through our conversation and recall the last few exchanges in an entirely new context.

Birgitte Bonnesen arrived in Sweden on the 1st September 1987. Before that, she had made two brief visits to the country. The first was for a Bruce Springsteen concert at Ullevi in Gothenburg on the 8th June 1985, but neither Gothenburg nor Sweden left any impression on her then. The concert could have taken place anywhere. What she did remember well, apart from the concert itself (of which there is an audio-only recording on YouTube) was the bus ride home from Ullevi to Copenhagen during which she felt she was filled with music. She also remembered arriving in Copenhagen in the middle of the night and being let into a bakery via the back door to buy warm, freshly-baked rolls.

The second visit was on the 7th June 1986, a very cold Saturday, for a Queen concert at Råsunda. The performance kicked off Freddie Mercury’s last tour with the band, who were extremely controversial in Sweden due to having played in Sun City in apartheid-era South Africa, despite the UN's unequivocal calls for boycott. Swedish newspapers voiced indignant outrage, with the band accused of greed and political idiocy. Birgitte remained focused on the concert experience itself.

Stockholm itself did acquire some vague contours for her during this trip, however. She and her companions flew to Bromma, and it poured with rain for most of the day. They had packed food to sustain them while queuing for the best spots on Råsunda's grass field. After the concert, Birgitte and her friends ended up at a restaurant in Hamngatan, where they ate pasta and drank red wine. The wine cost more than the food, much to their wide-eyed surprise. Stockholm was quiet and grey. There were no lively cafés, only old, dusty pastry shops with dry biscuits.

Like many people in Denmark, Birgitte didn’t think much about Sweden. It wasn't part of the conversation, as she put it. If you wanted to go skiing, you went to Norway. They knew the children’s author Astrid Lindgren, but despite storybook-world being undeniably popular, it didn't have a distinct Swedish identity. Birgitte remembered ”The Children of the Noisy Village” as a picture-book, along with “Pippi Longstocking” and “Seacrow Island” – known in Danish as “Krageøn.” When her scout patrol organised a canoeing trip to Sweden, Birgitte’s parents said she couldn’t go. She was 15 or 16 at the time.

When Birgitte, as a young adult as well as a newlywed, found herself in Copenhagen with her then-husband, who was employed by Scandinavian Airlines (SAS), the fact that Sweden co-owned the company did not prompt any intense reflections. The airline's high-profile CEO Jan Carlzon greatly impressed Birgitte, but the fact that he was Swedish was irrelevant. Moving to Sweden was not on the cards at this point. Yet, when her husband's career pulled him in that direction, the moving trucks headed to Sweden all the same. Birgitte followed. She was 31 at the time and had been the head of the translation and administration department at Sparekassen SDS in Copenhagen for three years. Her own professional plans were still somewhat vague.

She found herself in the banking world in Sweden too;  working for Första Sparbanken, marking the beginning of her thirty-plus years within, what would later become, Swedbank. She became, it is now evident, as loyal to the bank, and her new country, as you can be. She developed such strong feelings for Sweden that when, after ten years, an opportunity arose to move back to Denmark, she chose to stay. By then, Birgitte was not only a mother to Fredrik but also a single parent after separating from her husband. She felt, as she experienced it then, that being a parent in Sweden at this time was a privilege, in stark contrast to other comparable countries.

She said there was, and still is, an understanding of the parental role; you could take time off to care for a sick child ('vabba'). You could work part-time. You could work from home when things got hectic. You could function as a single parent, even with a demanding job. Being Danish in Sweden was full of challenges. It was often difficult to understand what people were saying. The food was strange, and everyone constantly took coffee breaks ('fika'). Everyone would go to the lunch cafeteria simultaneously and pile up enormous portions of meat, potatoes and raw vegetables. Cinnamon buns were constantly being eaten!  Birgitte thought she was getting fat; she wasn't used to consuming much food. People drank cider and ate Swedish sandwich cakes, which she thought were dreadful. Every weekend, she baked rye bread using a sourdough culture her sister had given to her from Denmark.  It felt like there was nothing – or almost nothing – edible in Sweden.

Birgitte and her husband had planned to stay for three years. However, a lot happened in those three years. Birgitte stayed on, becoming increasingly curious about things difficult to understand. She went on excursions, explored her new homeland, and enjoyed her challenging job with its exciting clients. Thankfully, English was the corporate language of choice.  Birgitte still found Swedish challenging. She knew she sometimes got things “wrong”, but that’s just how it was. It was no big deal. 

Here, Birgitte drew strength from something she had taken with her from Denmark; an attitude which was best summarised by the Danish expression 'Pytt med det,' which, in Swedish, roughly translates to 'Skitsamma' (or, in English, 'Never mind'). This was much better understood in Denmark, Birgitte believed. Swedes often become paralysed in situations where decisions must be made; they’re terrified of making mistakes. They sit and anxiously look around the meeting room, trying to pick up signals about how the land lies and what everyone else might think, so as not to end up in an uncomfortable minority or say something that others perceive as incorrect, irrelevant, or worst of all, stupid. For Danes, breaking consensus is much less difficult. They make decisions and evaluate them later at an appropriate time. If something went badly, next time, they’d do it differently. Okay, so they were wrong, they misjudged. These things happen, it’s not the end of the world. Pytt med det! Never mind!









